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—REVEREND JOHN RANKIN, RIPLEY, OHIO, 1841 Thus have I been attacked at midnight with fire and weapons of death, and nothing but the good providence of God has preserved my property from flames and myself and family from violence and death. And why? Have I wronged any one? No, but I am an ABOLITIONIST. I do not recognize the slaveholder's right to the flesh and blood and souls of men and women. For this I must be proscribed, my property burnt, and my life put in jeopardy! Now I desire all men to know that I am not to be deterred from what I believe to be my duty by fire and sword. I also wish all to know that I feel it my duty to defend my HOME to the very uttermost, and that it is as much a duty to shoot the midnight assassin in his attacks as it is to pray.







PREFACE
A DOUBLE LIFE


The people who lived on Front Street were the first to notice changes on the river. They knew when calm water began to churn, lapping loudly against the shore, or when boats stalled on shallow bends, as rains of warmer days turned to snow and water levels fell. And in the middle of the wintry night, when sheets of ice slid downriver, they could hear the high-pitched moan that some would say was the gradual grinding of the ice as floes collided and congealed; others would swear it was the sound of a human cry. For, as everyone in the town of Ripley knew, especially those who lived closest to the water, on Front Street things happened in the night when the river froze, things that some townsfolk tried hard to expose and others risked their lives to conceal.

In the winter of 1838, along the five bends visible from the highest point in Ripley, the Ohio River froze for nearly ten days. Ice floating down the river bore against the Kentucky and Ohio shores. As the level of the water fell day after day and temperatures plummeted, the ice spread, and what was once a river separating the North from the South, free states from slave, became a glassy road that see med almost to connect them. In other years, the frozen surface heaved with ridges where floes had overlapped and formed a rugged mosaic. But so smooth was the river now that it lured every boy in town, skates slung over his shoulders, to its icy, snow-spattered banks. There they stood, in hushed awe, staring at the white expanse and watching each other, as if one of them could know whether the sheets of ice would now bear their weight. Even Jimmy Campbell, the best skater in the county, hesitated. So did John Rankin, Jr., and his brother Sam, both well practiced on the ice.

Behind the boys, along the river's edge, a crowd gathered. And just when it seemed that no one would venture onto the virgin ice, out of the cluster a boy darted. Skates firmly strapped, head bent close to the frozen ground, he dashed to the middle of the river and then turned a somersault. Like a gunshot starting a race, his move signaled the others. Soon, forty or more skaters took to the ice. But those who knew the river best, who watched its moods and its traffic, knew how perilous and unpredictable it could be. They cringed when they saw a horse and sleigh appear along the shore. The Campbell boy and others had persuaded two Ripley girls to ride in the sleigh onto the ice, though the ice was still settling and the river still falling. Tentatively the horse pawed the frozen ground, and then, urged on by the boys, it drew the sleigh out upon the slick surface. The sudden cracking sounded like “grinding bark,” John Rankin, Jr., later wrote. Skaters fled. Spectators gasped. And the horse, with awkward strides, ice buckling beneath its hooves, hurried its precious cargo back ashore.

For many in Ripley, 1838 would stick in memory as the time when the frozen river hindered boat traffic for nearly two weeks, and as the only instance thus far in the town's history when a horse and sleigh rode upon the ice. For the Rankin boys and their father, for the father of Jimmy Campbell, Ripley's mayor, and for several of the Front Street dwellers, 1838 would be a striking year for other reasons. They were the men and women attuned to the traffic that picked up, rather than ceased, when the river froze: the human traffic of runaway slaves. For, somewhere on the other side of the river, on any given night, a slave, driven by the fear of capture, torture, and an endless future of bondage, was crossing a snowy field, wading an icy stream, dodging men and dogs to reach a river he or she had only heard of but never seen, to escape to the freedom beyond it.

One or more of the Ripley skaters testing the ice that day, looking for cracks, knew that the life of a runaway slave could depend upon the depth of the freeze. Some of them waited in the throng along the banks watching the events on the ice, all the while thinking about Kentucky and how close the shores of slavery now seemed. They thought too about the recently posted bounties for the assassination of John Rankin and other members of their underground band, and about a Ripley woman languishing in a Kentuckyjail cell not far from the shoreline, a free black woman abducted from her home by slave catchers months ago.

Eighteen thirty-eight was a time of danger and conflict, a time to be wary of shadows in the alleys off Front Street, a time some in Ripley would remember for more than the horse and sleigh incident, the killing temperatures, and the brittle ice. For, although Ripley was a town of ordinary pleasures, it was also a town of extraordinary secrets, a town with a double life.




PART IThe War Before the War


—JOHN PARKER, FORMER SLAVE, FOUNDRY OWNER, INVENTOR, UNDERGROUND RAILROAD CONDUCTOR ON THE RIPLEY LINE
There was a time when fierce passions swept this little town, dividing its people into bitter factions. I never thought of going uptown without a pistol in my pocket, a knife in my belt, and a blackjack handy. Day or night I dare not walk on the sidewalks for fear someone might leap out of a narrow alley at me. What I did, the other men did, walked the streets armed. This was a period when men went armed with pistol and knife and used them on the least provocation. When under cover of night the uncertain steps of slaves were heard quietly seeking their friends. When the mornings brought strange rumors of secret encounters the night before, but daylight showed no evidence of the fray. When pursuers and pursued stood at bay in a narrow alley with pistols drawn ready for the assault. When angry men surrounded one of the [Front Street] houses, kept up gunfire until late in the afternoon, endeavoring to break into it by force, in search of runaways. These were the days of passion and battle which turned father against son, and neighbor against neighbor.






CHAPTER ONE THE KINDLING AND THE SPARK


The town of Ripley lies on land wedged between the Ohio River and a steep, sprawling ridge in a region once known among frontiersmen as the Imperial Forest. Long ago, this vast expanse of green, fifty miles east of Cincinnati, 250 miles south of the Canadian border, and roughly a thousand feet from the Kentucky banks of the Ohio, was rich in hickory and elm, beech and oak, ash and walnut. Sycamores grew to forty-five feet around, so wide, it was said, that a horse and rider could stand in the hollow of a trunk. Thickets of grapevines entangled trees and shrubs in leafy mazes that blocked the sun.

The Shawnee and the Miami traversed these ridges and hollows, tracking bear and buck, ever wary of the panthers and wolves lurking in the shadows. Their villages lined the Scioto and Little Miami rivers, which bordered these verdant hills and fed the Ohio. And at a place where the Ohio narrowed to barely more than a thousand feet and flowed briefly northward, the place where Ripley would one day stand, they crossed the river to Kentucky to hunt more game and sometimes to steal horses. Then, back again, across the river they would come, with the horses they now claimed as their own, followed by the owners they had to outrun.

In the spring of 1804, two cumbrous flatboats moved slowly, like giant, eighty-foot arks, down the river from Mason County, Kentucky, taking most of a day to reach that narrow place where the river runs north, the place so often used for crossings. Colonel James Poage, a forty-four-year-old surveyor from Virginia, had come to claim his thousand acres on the new frontier: Military Warrant No. 14, Survey No. 416, “beginning at two sugar trees and a mulberry running down the river, crossing the mouth of Red Oak Creek to a sugar tree and two buckeyes on the bank of the river.” One boat carried his wife, his ten children, and his possessions; on the other were his twenty slaves, whom he soon would set free.

By then, the Battle of the Fallen Timbers in 1794 and the Treaty of Greenville the following year were forcing the Indians northward and westward, marking the end of their lives in the Imperial Forest and tolling the death knell for much of the forest itself. The forest now stood in the midst of the Virginia Military District, a vast expanse of nearly four million acres between the Scioto and Little Miami rivers, thought to be the richest and fairest part of the region beyond the river. This was the land that, after the Revolution, Virginia refused to cede to Congress.

In those early years of the new nation, the fate of the Northwest Territory, of which Ohio was a significant part, emerged as a hotly contested issue. To whom did the bountiful Western domain now belong? In a nation poverty stricken after the Revolutionary War, every state envisioned revenue gushing from those lands for its own gain. The dense forests, the fertile soil, the abundant game, the river—all of it—conjured images of growth and profit. But a destitute Congress appealed to the states to relinquish their claims for the benefit of all; land sales would fill the government's coffers. The states conceded. Virginia, however, demanded to reserve a tract northwest of the Ohio River to pay its soldiers of the Continental Army. “In case the quantity of good lands on the southeast side of the Ohio, upon the Cumberland River, and between the Green River and the Tennessee River, which have been reserved by law for the Virginia troops of the Continental establishment, should prove insufficient for their legal bounties,” the 1784 deed of cession read, “the deficiency should be made up to the troops in good lands to be laid off between the rivers Scioto and the Little Miami, on the northwest side of the river Ohio.”

During the next three years, warrants issued to hundreds of ex-soldiers were laid upon the “good lands” between the Tennessee and Green rivers. There seemed little need for, or interest in, the reserve north of the river until the summer of 1787, when all of the so-called best lands had been claimed. In August of that year, a bureau opened in Louisville to encouragesurveys into the Ohio territory. The early surveyors, knowing they could profit handsomely, returned from their missions with glowing accounts.

That same year, Congress passed the Northwest Ordinance—the first law in the new nation's history to ban slavery. “There shall be neither slavery nor involuntary servitude in the said territory otherwise than in the punishment of crimes,” the sixth article of the law read. In Ohio, in its early years, slave owners could free their slaves without any liability. Other states, fearing that freed slaves would become wards of the state, required a bond. This new land of the free had particular appeal among those ex-soldiers of the Continental Army who had fought with the cause of liberty in their hearts and after the Revolution saw only hypocrisy in the slavery sanctioned by their home states.

So, by the early years of the nineteenth century, droves of Virginia's veteran soldiers, as well as speculators who had purchased the warrants from soldiers choosing not to move, were hastening to the land beyond the Ohio River, to this El Dorado of the West, a land where no man could be enslaved as the property of another.

Colonel James Poage, the man docking his flatboats, was one of them. Poage had served in the war, first as ensign in 1780 and then as lieutenant of militia in 1782. His title of colonel came out of his trailblazing years as a surveyor. Surveying in the unsettled Northwest was such a perilous job that parties of surveyors often banded together for protection, and when they did, the leader of the group was designated “colonel.” Known for ambitious expeditions, a bold style, and a generous, egalitarian treatment of workers and slaves, Colonel Poage led large surveying bands into the wildest parts of Virginia, Kentucky, Indiana, Illinois, and Ohio throughout the 1780s and 1790s. In exchange for his work—nearly twenty years of it—he acquired parts of what he had surveyed: forty thousand acres, mostly in Virginia, Kentucky, and Illinois. When he retired from surveying, he first claimed land in Kentucky, where he lived in Ashland and then near Maysville, in Mason County. But it was his thousand-acre military warrant on the southernmost edge of the Imperial Forest that he chose for his permanent settlement.

Poage clearly recognized the potential his acreage held for riches from timber, agriculture, and the passing river traffic. But there was something else that lured the colonel, something pulling him to Ripley's shore like the spring sun drawing sap through the trees: He abhorred slavery. This loathing had risen within him during the Revolution and had grown with time, convincing him to renounce his own slaveholding and causing him to become dissatisfied with his life in Kentucky. In Ashland, he was in conflict with the slaveholders in his church, and in Mason County he couldn't bear the presence of slave traders or the sight of slave auctions. Once upon Ohio soil, he freed his slaves. He took apart his flatboats and built shelters from the logs. He called his settlement Buck's Landing.

In the months that followed, Poage renamed his plot, calling it Staunton, after the town in Virginia where he and many of his slaves had been born. Soon he and others tore the vines from the trees, hewed the hickory and beech, the ash and oak, and made paths through the remaining woods. Even the massive sycamores fell, one by one, as they cleared the land to build houses.

The others came slowly, year by year. There was Alexander Campbell, Ripley's first physician, who in 1804 migrated to Ohio from Kentucky, freed his slaves, and settled on Front Street. Born in Virginia and educated in Kentucky, Dr. Campbell was, by most accounts, Ohio's first abolitionist and soon to be one of the state's first two U.S. senators. James Gilliland, a Presbyterian minister ostracized in South Carolina for his antislavery views, arrived in 1805 and settled six miles north in Red Oak. Families from his congregation who shared his views, and friends from his hometown in North Carolina, soon followed and eventually joined him in the abolitionist underground. Thomas McCague, who would one day be a magnate in the nation's pork-packing industry, and his wife, Catherine, would also become active participants in Ripley's secret world, sharing their covert work with Front Street neighbors Nathaniel Collins, a carpenter and Ripley's first mayor; with three of his sons, Theodore, Thomas, and James; with the Beasley brothers, Alfred and Benjamin, both physicians; and with Dr. Campbell. From East Tennessee came Reverend Jesse Lockhart, who worked the Russellville, Ohio, link in the Ripley line, and Reverend John Rankin, whom William Lloyd Garrison would one day call his inspiration and teacher in the cause of ending slavery. Later would come John Parker, the free black abolitionist who distinguished himself by his daring forays into Kentucky to liberate slaves.

In the coming years, the growing community would attract more citizens of conscience whose abhorrence of slavery impelled them to uproot their families and to travel sometimes for months, often over rugged foothills and mountains, to a land they had never seen: Dr. Greenleaf Norton, Dr. Isaac M. Beck, Martha West Lucas, Sally Hudson and her brother John, the Pettijohns, the Cumberlands, and John B. Mahan among others. Some would live to see the end of slavery. Others would die in the struggle against it—casualties of the war before the war.

In 1812, Poage laid out his new town. Four years later, Staunton, population 104, became Ripley. A town farther north had already taken the name Staunton, and so the townsfolk changed theirs to honor General Eleazar Wheelock Ripley, a renowned American officer in the War of 1812. General Ripley had commanded the Second Brigade in the army of General Jacob Brown, for whom Ohio's Brown County had been named.

In the earliest plans for the town, there was always a road running parallel to the river with alleys branching out from it. At first, it seemed, the alleys provided comfortable distances between neighbors. Then, as more and more rooftops winked through the foliage and woodsmoke plumed over the town, horse-drawn wagons ambled along these narrow passages, leaving piles of wood at the side doors and back entrances of the riverfront houses. And as Ripley's double identity took shape, the alleys took on a new life—at night. Perpendicular to the river, they were conduits to the land beyond Ripley—extensions of the river as much as the ravines and streams flowing like tiny arteries around the heart of town. The alleys facilitated swift passage out the back doors of Front Street, up the steep hill behind the town, and onward to other towns and other hills. Dr. Campbell, Rankin, one of Rankin's sons, and others in the underground would build or purchase houses along the alleys.

By the 1830s, the alleys were well worn from the horse-and-wagon traffic of daily commerce and the human traffic that sometimes ran deep into the night. By then, Ripley was one of the busiest shipping points on the Ohio River. Stately brick row houses were replacing log cabins on Front Street. And on the many new streets in town, there were seven mercantile houses, three physicians, two attorneys, several cabinet shops, tan yards, groceries, millineries, shoemakers, wagon and carriage makers, a clockmaker, and a large woolen mill. Along the creeks were flour mills, and on the riverbank was a boatyard where flatboats and steamboats were built. By then, too, Ripley was second only to Cincinnati in the pork-packing industry. Farmers throughout the county brought their hogs to the Ripley market, where the animals were slaughtered and the lard was packed in kegs, the pork was pickled in barrels, and the slabs of cured hams and bacons were piled onto ships and sent east on the river via Pittsburgh or south to New Orleans.

The town was also known, at least among slaves and their masters in northern Kentucky, as a haven into which runaways seemed to disappear. In the early 1830s, a slave named Tice Davids had reached the Ohio River across from Ripley with his Kentucky master trailing so close behind him that Davids had not a second to search the shoreline for a skiff. And so he swam. His master, however, did spend time looking for a boat, and though he rowed swiftly and could see the head and arms of his slave thrashing through the water, he could not catch him. He watched as Davids climbed up the Ripley banks, then lost sight of him. He rammed his boat onto the shore and rushed up the steep bank to Front Street, where he asked everyone he saw about the black man who had just moments ago emerged from the river, clothes heavy with the weight of water. Had no one seen him? He walked the streets and searched the alleys, but he never found his slave. No one he asked in the entire town could recall seeing a man of Davids's description. Frustrated and confused, he returned to Kentucky, where he told everyone he knew that his slave “must have disappeared on an underground road.”

Word of such a road began to spread, and Ripley's position along one of the narrowest bends of the Ohio was soon known among slaves in Kentucky. Many knew that a dry spell rendered the river so shallow that crossing at such a narrow stretch was more like wading a stream than navigating a river. For those who managed to cross at higher water, the network of streams and creeks bordering the town provided pathways away from the river and far beyond it—Eagle Creek, Red Oak Creek, Straight Creek, White Oak Creek, all wide enough for skiffs and even flatboats, depending on the season and the rainfall. The hounds of a slave hunter could not detect the scent of a man escaping by way of water. The streams cut through a complex terrain of hills and dales that could mask the sight of a horse and rider at every undulating curve or hollow. Just as important were the remnants of the Imperial Forest, the dense woods above the town, beyond the hill, and along the creeks—a thicket that, for those who knew it well and did not fear it, gave cover that would foil pursuit.

Also critical to Ripley's appeal as a gateway to freedom were the nearby free black settlements. In 1818, 950 freed slaves from Virginia had settled on twenty-two hundred acres north of town. These men, women, and children had labored for Samuel Gist, a British merchant of exceptional wealth who had died in London a few years before and had stipulated in his will that upon his death the slaves on his vast Virginia plantations would be set free. The proceeds from the sale of his Virginia lands were to be used to buy land in that state for the freed slaves, to build their houses, churches, and schools, and to pay their teachers and ministers. But when his daughters petitioned the Virginia legislature to approve the will, legislators balked at the notion of releasing so many slaves in their state—what would be one of the largest manumissions in the nation's history. No slaveholding Virginian could forget the recent slave rebellions throughout the Western world, sometimes led by bands of free blacks. Some legislators referred to the bloody Haitian revolt in 1791, in which slaves overthrew their white masters. Others spoke of the attempted rebellion of a slave named Gabriel, who enlisted the help of more than one thousand slaves in Virginia in 1800. The legislators cited an 1806 law that required freed slaves to leave Virginia within one year or face re-enslavement. And so the legislators voted to allow the manumission only if the freed slaves moved out of Virginia. Three hundred of the slaves left their homes in Virginia's counties of Hanover, Amherst, Goslin, and Henrico and, under the guidance of Gist's agents, resettled in Brown County, Ohio, in two communities. The remaining fifty came separately, stopping several places on the way and arriving more than a year later.

For slaves south of the river, the Gist settlements were Mecca. Escaping slaves naturally sought out free black communities as hideouts from slave hunters and masters. As the largest free black encampments in the region, the Gist communities increased the runaway traffic through Ripley, the main river town in Brown County. They also intensified the friction between Ripley and nearby towns, where abolitionists were often despised and Gist settlers treated like an Old Testament pestilence. For, despite the antislavery sentiment in and around Ripley, the region, so close to the border of a slave state, was filled with indifference and sympathy for Southern slaveholding. In the summer of 1819, in a Southern Ohio newspaper, an unnamed citizen who called the settlements “camps” wrote to the editor: “Much as we commiserate the situation of those who, when emancipated, are obliged to leave their country or agin be enslaved, we trust our constitution and laws are not so defective as to suffer us to be overrun by such a wretched population. Ohio will suffer seriously from the iniquitous policy pursued by the States of Virginia and Kentucky in driving all their free Negroes upon us.”

A year after the arrival of the Gist slaves, the Missouri Territory sought admission to the Union as a slave state—an issue that at first seemed unimportant to Ripley. If Missouri entered as a slave state, slaveholding interests in the U.S. Senate would have a voting margin over the free states. This would also facilitate the expansion of slavery into the rest of the unorganizedlands of the Louisiana Purchase. The ensuing debate was so bitter as to threaten the life of the Union. Elihu Embree, a Quaker abolitionist from Tennessee, wrote, “Hell is about to enlarge her borders and tyranny her domain.”

A compromise was fashioned and, to balance the slavery scale, Maine entered the Union as a free state. Under the Missouri Compromise, as it was known, slavery would be permitted south of latitude 36 degrees 30 minutes, and prohibited north of that line. Dissolution and war were averted, for the time, but the compromise sectionalized the nation as never before. John Quincy Adams presently called the compromise “the title page of a great, tragic volume.” Newspapers in slaveholding states burst with commentaries ardently defending the institution of slavery. They saw the compromise, which prohibited slavery in a vast portion of the Louisiana Purchase, as a device to minimize the number of slaveholding states. And they claimed that “deluded madmen” were plotting to destroy their world. Abolitionists in slave states lost much of their support and migrated to free states, where antislavery sentiment was building. At the same time, antislavery forces saw the compromise as an indication that slaveholders in Congress—what they called the “slave power”—were shaping national policy and would be the architects of Western expansion. After numerous complaints about slave catchers roaming the banks of the river, Ohio legislators passed a law to punish the mercenaries who invaded the state to hunt down free blacks in order to collect slave owners' rewards for their recapture or to sell them downriver. In response, Kentucky legislators, in violation of the Constitution, passed a law bolstering the rights of slave owners to enter free states and reclaim their “property.”

Along the river, tensions were rising and suspicions growing. The kindling of controversy was piled high. Ripley's role in this borderland war was becoming ever clearer. A single spark might unite Ripley in the cause of ending slavery and resisting the slave power. It came in the form of a Presbyterian minister named John Rankin.

As news of the Missouri Compromise reached Carlisle, Kentucky, where Rankin lived, and nearby Concord, where he preached, Rankin felt the pulse of his community quicken. He sensed the anger in the hearts of slave owners and the frustration among antislavery advocates when he stood at the pulpit seeking to prove that slavery was as great a crime against the laws of God as murder, and arguing that every slaveholder must free his slaves to adhere to the teachings of the Scriptures. At the same time, an economic downturn known as the Panic of 1819 was devastating the farmersand merchants of his community in north-central Kentucky. The majority of his antislavery congregation was moving northward, and those who remained could not afford to pay Rankin's $550 annual salary. The Kentucky Abolition Society, which he had helped to expand, was dwindling. And the newspaper that he zealously promoted, Abolition Intelligencer and Missionary Magazine, was failing.

Rankin could have endured the economic hardship, as he would at other junctures in his life. But what had inspired him to work in a slave state was the hope that his antislavery activism—his speaking, writing, and teaching against the evils of slavery—would help to transform Kentucky into a free state. The anger and fear that grew out of the Missouri Compromise intensified the opposition to his work and nearly extinguished his local support. Unable to provide for his family or to persuade slaveholders to free their slaves, he knew he must leave.

In December 1821, twenty-eight-year-old Rankin, with $50 in his pocket and his wife, three sons, and one daughter at his side, set out for the land beyond the river. Late on the eve of a new year, they arrived at the banks of the Ohio, only to find the river running with ice floes. The flatboat they had arranged to use was too large for the crossing. Only small skiffs could dodge the floes and find a path through the ice. They must depart at once before the ice coalesced. Leaving their horses and possessions with a friend until spring, they piled into two skiffs. “I can remember that crossing and how frightened we were when we were struck by a large field of ice which nearly upset our boats,” Rankin's oldest son, Adam Lowry, wrote years later.

Early in the morning of January 1, 1822, they pulled their skiffs onto the banks at Ripley, and the kindling got its spark.


CHAPTER TWO VISIONS AND IDEALS


In the unbroken wilderness of East Tennessee in 1793, in a log cabin at the headwaters of Assumption Creek, a midwife delivered the fourth son of Jane and Richard Rankin. The parents named the baby John, and they planned a simple life for him. But John was a boy who would know early what he believed and what he lived for. His life would never be simple.

John Rankin was born early in the evening of February 4, but on abolition's clock it was closer to daybreak. The sun was slowly rising on a new generation of crusaders who would exalt the laws of conscience and God over those of government and man. Their fathers had fought in the Revolution, and now they would seek to end the great hypocrisy that came out of it: the lie and the abomination that were slavery. They would do what most true believers only dream of doing. They would change the world into which they had been born.

In 1793, it was seven years before the births of both Nat Turner and John Brown; twelve years before the birth of William Lloyd Garrison; and George Washington had just begun his second term as president of the United States. In the week after Rankin's birth, the Second Congress of the new nation passed what would be known as the Fugitive Slave Act of 1793—a law Rankin would spend much of his life breaking. One reason for the new law was to carry out Article IV, Section 2, of the Constitution,which said that anyone held to service or labor in one state under the laws of that state escaping to another cannot be discharged from that service, but instead can be claimed by the person to whom the labor is due and returned to servitude. Despite its explosive potential, this clause of the Constitution generated no opposition whatsoever—unlike the articles regarding the slave trade, the regulation of commerce, and the taxation of exports. This so-called fugitive-slave clause was adopted unanimously. Either the framers were too exhausted for yet another strenuous debate, or the northern delegates may not have foreseen the dangers that could result from such a clause.

A challenge came quickly. Four years later, the governors of Virginia and Pennsylvania were enmeshed in a battle over the rights of three Virginians who abducted a black man, John Davis, from his new home in the free state of Pennsylvania to return him to servitude. President Washington was urged to clarify Article IV, Section 2. Thus came the law of 1793, which said effectively that slave owners and their agents—soon to be as familiar a sight on the northern banks of the Ohio as debris in the river after a storm—had the legal right to “seize or arrest” their slaves in free states, without a warrant and without the presence of a civil official. All that a slaveholder needed to do was to take the captured slave to a nearby circuit-court judge or the magistrate of a county, city, or town in which the seizure or arrest was made, and prove to the satisfaction of the judge, by either oral testimony or affidavit, that the slave belonged to the slaveholder. The black man or woman had no right to testify on his or her own behalf, and the word of the white man was automatically accepted. Worse still, the new law warned that obstructing a slave catcher in the act of apprehending a fugitive, no matter how violent and savage that act might be, and harboring or concealing a fugitive on the path to freedom, no matter how humane and justified that helping hand might be, were now illegal acts. The penalty could be as much as a $500 fine and a prison sentence of one year.

The Senate approved it without a single dissenting vote on January 18. The House passed it, forty-eight to seven, with so little discussion that no report was ever officially recorded. President Washington signed it on February 12, exactly sixteen years before the birth of Abraham Lincoln. Perhaps the Union was so new that a veil of naïveté prevented legislators from seeing the truth: that the flight to freedom would not stop, and that the intended interstate harmony would end the moment the South began to see its human property disappearing.

And so, with the passage of the law, the territories and states declaredfree under the Northwest Ordinance—Ohio, Indiana, Illinois, Michigan, Wisconsin—could never be true sanctuaries for escaping slaves. Only beyond international borders, in Mexico and Canada, where the law did not reach, could a runaway be assured of freedom from the fear of slave catchers and other mercenaries who profited handsomely by returning runaway slaves to their owners, or by selling them for even more money to slave traders who took them downriver into the Deep South. It was in that same year of 1793 that Eli Whitney patented his cotton gin, which soon would cause the demand for slaves to explode in the cotton-growing Southern states. As more slaves took flight, pathways between the South and foreign borders emerged, and those people sympathetic to the plight of slaves, those who ardently opposed slavery, those who stood on the high ground of the laws of conscience, assisted their escape when necessary, despite the laws. Ironically, the law that was intended to discourage the flight of slaves encouraged loosely organized networks of blacks and whites to guide runaway slaves to places of safety and freedom.

By 1793, thousands of white refugees from the slave revolt in Haiti had fled to the American South, often bringing their slaves, who eagerly told the story of black liberty unfolding on an island to the south. They talked about the mass meetings in forests during the days leading up to the first bloody moments of revolt. They described walls of fire under blackened skies as plantations burned, and they told of scenes of human carnage as slaves avenged two centuries of degradation and abuse. They spoke of the freedom and power they had learned from their leaders, whose words still rang in their ears with the clarity of church bells. They recalled the prayers of their leaders during the night that the terror began: “Throw away the symbol of the god of the whites who has so often caused us to weep, and listen to the voice of liberty, which speaks in the hearts of us all.”

What happened in Haiti destroyed the image of harmony and peace that the slaveholders and their sympathizers wanted the nation to believe. Rebellion was sweeping across the South, and fear and paranoia were more prominent than ever before. “They write from Charleston (S.C.) that the NEGROES have become very insolent, in so much that the citizens are alarmed, and the militia keep a constant guard. It is said that the St. Domingo [Haitian] negroes have sown these seeds of revolt,” reported The New York Journal & Patriotic Register.

For slaves, the message billowing in the smoke over Haiti was that victory over their oppressors was possible. For slaveholders, “What if ?” had suddenly become “When?” Their response was to tighten restraints, toraise the walls of confinement higher, to argue for laws to protect their human property, and eventually to blame antislavery crusaders for fomenting revolt. But to block the flow of subversive ideas into the quarters of their slaves, to censure the Haitian slaves whose eyes now reflected the stars of liberty, or to destroy the dream of freedom was an impossible feat, one that no measure of beatings, whippings, or legal undertakings could ever accomplish.

The uprising in Haiti, the Fugitive Slave Act, and Whitney's new cotton gin seemed far away from the secluded cabin where Rankin was born. But the question of liberty and who was entitled to it would run through the lives of the generation coming of age in the early nineteenth century like a swollen river threatening to flood after each new rain.

Of the Southern states and territories in 1793, Tennessee had the smallest slave population, with roughly 3,500 slaves, compared with about 293,000 in Virginia and about 107,000 in South Carolina. Tennessee was more akin to Northern states such as Pennsylvania, which had about 3,700 slaves that year, or Connecticut, with about 2,700. And of all the regions in the state, East Tennessee held the fewest slaves of all—though one was too many for Rankin's parents.

East Tennessee lay between the valleys of the Cumberland and Tennessee rivers. It was largely unsuited for sprawling plantations of cotton—unlike the western portion of the state, which spawned a plantation economy. The Cumberland Plateau, an area of thin, sandy, unfertile land, formed its western boundary, and on the eastern side, in the Unaka region, the soil was equally rugged and unproductive, though interspersed with tillable patches. Barely half of the acreage of East Tennessee was arable land, largely in the river valleys, where buckwheat, corn, rye, and potatoes could grow, amid small fields of cotton. There were no cash crops. The uncertain terrain of the remainder of the region was used for grazing horses, sheep, mules, hogs, and cattle, or for mining coal, iron ore, zinc, and other minerals.

In the 1790s, antislavery advocates were not uncommon in East Tennessee. In 1797, the Knoxville Gazette ran a letter calling for “public spirited citizens” to join in the “gradual abolition of slavery of every kind.” On February 25, 1815, Quaker citizens of Jefferson County gathered at the Lost Creek Meeting House to form the Tennessee Manumission Society. Its constitution called for each member to display in his home a sign reading: “Freedom is the natural right of all men; I therefore acknowledge myself a member of the Tennessee Society for Promoting the Manumission of Slaves.” And the nation's first periodical to focus exclusively on the cause ofending slavery, the Quaker Elihu Embree's Manumission Intelligencer, later renamed The Emancipator, came out of that early stronghold of abolitionists in 1819. After Embree's death, another Quaker and early architect of the antislavery cause, Benjamin Lundy, came to East Tennessee to promote abolition and to publish his own paper, Genius of Universal Emancipation.

By 1793, John Rankin's father, Richard, owned a thousand acres roughly seven miles northeast of Dandridge, in Jefferson County. Eight years before, Richard Rankin and his wife, Jane Steele, had migrated from Augusta County, Virginia, her home and his place of apprenticeship in the blacksmith trade—also the county from which Ripley's founder, James Poage, emigrated. In Tennessee, Richard and Jane joined his five brothers and his father, Thomas, all of whom had come from Pennsylvania after the Revolutionary War. Richard and Jane Rankin would raise eleven sons and one daughter in Tennessee. Jane would outlive five of their sons.

The families of both Richard and Jane Steele Rankin had originated in Scotland. In 1727, Richard's grandfather John Rankin, a Calvinist, moved his family to the New World. There, in Carlisle, Cumberland County, Pennsylvania, on 150 acres on the south side of Yellow Britches Creek, he brought up his God-fearing, Scottish Presbyterian brood of two boys and eight girls. He died in 1749. Thomas, one of his sons, farmed the family's fertile Pennsylvania plot and brought up six daughters and six sons, one of whom was Richard Rankin. After the War for Independence, Thomas sold the farm to the government for what he likely did not know was worthless Continental money. The story handed down through generations was that Thomas Rankin never regretted the act of “giving” his land to the fledgling new Union.

Penniless after the sale, Thomas Rankin was forced to move his family to the frontier, to Tennessee, where land was cheap and bountiful. A year or so later, Richard, now nineteen, moved to Augusta County, Virginia, to work for Samuel Steele, whose daughter he married. The young couple moved back to Tennessee in 1786.

Richard's parcel in Tennessee was effectively a thousand-acre forest, for which he paid pennies per acre. Along a clear, cool creek, branching out from a tributary of the Tennessee River, he built a log cabin with a clay chimney and erected a blacksmith shop. But smithing was hardly a livelihood in a land where the few inhabitants had little if any money and no possessions of worth to barter. Worse still, commerce was nearly impossible because any goods produced or purchased had to be transported hundreds of miles in a wagon to reach a market.

An earnest, meditative, quiet man, Richard was fueled by the simple yet passionate hope that his children would survive the frontier and live to bear their own children. He was a keen reader of books, mostly theological, but he rarely discussed his ideas. Jane's dream exceeded her husband's, as did her habits of speech. She wanted her children to explore the vast frontier of their souls. She read to them as often as a mother of so many children could, and she openly expressed her views on every subject of humanity. She opposed drinking, dancing, smoking, and slavery. A native of one slave state and a resident for all of her life of another, she understood slavery's depravity and protested its evils. If asked, her husband acknowledged that he was an opponent of slavery, but he did not volunteer the sentiment. Jane, on the other hand, persistently pressed her antislavery beliefs upon her children, her neighbors, and her fellow church members. Only one of her children would ever own slaves, and he, at the insistence of his brother John, would eventually free them. “My mother was a woman of strong mental capacity, well able to give a reason for the hope that was within her,” John Rankin said after her death, “a woman of remarkable intellectual culture for one brought up on the frontier [and whose] whole life was that of a pioneer.”

For young John Rankin, it was a stark and rugged life branded with the stern imprint of Calvinism: thrift, hard work, austerity, control. Still, he was blessed with parents who believed in education and taught him to read as soon as he could understand enough words to listen. It was a time on the frontier when some settlers opposed the concept of education. Learning, they argued, bred a mentality of rogues. Some local preachers even believed that reading would block a spiritual calling inspired by the Gospel. Rankin was home-taught during most of his youth, aided by his parents' exceptional library. Dilworth's spelling book, the Bible, and works of Scottish theologians were the springboards for a lifetime of writing, lecturing, debating, and agitating. The school he attended during the winters of his early years was nearly three miles away, in a room with dirt floors, no windows, and three log walls. The fourth was a stone wall, against which a heap of wood was piled each morning and set ablaze, stoked by the schoolmaster as often as needed. There Rankin learned what were considered rudiments, one at a time: more of Dilworth's, then the New Testament and the Old Testament. When those were mastered, there were lessons in history and arithmetic. Rankin would later recall the hard slabs of timber on which he sat, the master with his long hickory switch, which he cracked freely across the hands of any idle child, and the long walk from homealong a narrow rock-strewn path over high craggy hills. Each week, too, weather permitting, the Rankins walked seven miles to attend the Presbyterian church in Dandridge. There they sat on backless slabs of pine in a room with no fire to warm them for two one-hour sermons with an hour break between. One dreary winter day, John's father admitted to his children that in that church “no power of eloquence could warm up the heavens.”

Cold. Bleak. Sullen. Severe. A lullaby of struggle. That was the life into which John Rankin was born. And then came the summer of 1800. By then Rankin, at age seven, was immersed in the routines of frontier life: a rigorous mix of learning how to read, write, and study, and how to hoe. When his father left for weeks with local men to fight Indians, he stayed home from school and worked in the cleared portions of the land, where small fields of corn and cotton grew. At night, he sat by the warmth of burning pine knots, studied the Bible, and contemplated what it might mean.

In Rankin's eighth summer, the religious revival known as the Second Great Awakening, which had begun in New England in the late 1790s, was moving westward to Kentucky and Tennessee. How startling it must have been for a boy accustomed to orderly days of religious restraint suddenly to witness the screaming and shouting of the fervent crowds. At tent meetings in forest clearings, spellbinding preachers unleashed the pent-up passions of masses of people who swayed and jerked like tree limbs in a strong, erratic wind. At night, the glare of hundreds of candles and torches cast long, distorted shadows across the assemblage of heads bowing, hands waving, and bodies shaking. The night wind carried the high-pitched shrieks, sobs, and chants for many miles as children, long tucked away in their beds, lay awake, the excitement wafting through their small, barren rooms and their hungry minds.

Richard Rankin took his family to camp meetings in the forests near Dandridge. “A wonderful nervous affection pervaded the meetings,” John Rankin later wrote. “Some would tremble as if terribly frightened; some would have violent twitching and jerking; others would fall down suddenly as if breathless and lie there for hours. Some would laugh with a loud ha!! ha!!, others would form a ring and dance round awhile, then fall back on those who stood round to take care of them. There were some who would bark like dogs. Young as I was, my mind was much exercised on the subject of religion. My body too was agitated to some extent.”

That same summer of agitation ended with the largest slave conspiracyin American history, in Virginia. As Rankin and his generation inherited the vision and ideals of the Revolution, those same ideals reverberated for another struggling group: the one-sixth held in bondage, the enslaved Africans. Throughout the summer and the previous spring, the slave named Gabriel had been hatching a plot to free the slaves of Virginia. Inspired by both the American Revolution and the more recent revolt in Haiti, Gabriel Prosser, a highly skilled blacksmith, recruited roughly a thousand slaves from ten Virginia counties to the cause. Liberty. Equality. Fraternity. Why were these the rights of white men and not of blacks? The rebels planned a long march on Richmond at midnight on August 30. Marchers intended to carry flags bearing the Haitian battle cry: “Death or Liberty.” They were instructed to spare Quakers, Methodists, Frenchmen, and poor white women from the vengeance in their hearts. The goal was to rouse the fears of the white establishment enough to scare them into believing they could save their own lives only by freeing Virginia's massive slave population. But, of all things, the weather betrayed them. Torrents of rain washed out bridges over rivers and creeks that Gabriel's army needed to cross to begin their siege. The weight of water crushed their dream. Two slaves scared by the spiritual implications of the storm revealed the plot to authorities.

By early autumn, news of the failed rebellion and the executions of Gabriel and twenty-seven of his men was trumpeted throughout the South. Rankin's mother, an ardent yet nonviolent antislavery advocate, saw tragedy in the tale and blamed the evil of slavery. Gabriel's conspiracy was the logical consequence of holding down a race of people, and nothing in the Bible condoned such oppression. At the trial, in October, one of Gabriel's allies testified, “I have nothing more to offer than what General Washington would have had to offer, had he been taken by the British and put to trial by them. I have adventured my life in endeavoring to obtain the liberty of my countrymen, and am a willing sacrifice in their cause….”

For Rankin, the events of his eighth year resonated deeply. In his memory, the story of a man losing his life in pursuit of freedom would always blend together with the many nights of divine manifestation in the woodlands of East Tennessee. There would come a time when enough years had passed that Rankin could look back and know that the passions of the summer of 1800 had inspired his own private awakening.

Revivals in Tennessee and Kentucky continued throughout the warm months of 1802 and 1803. When they ended, Rankin slipped into what he later called “a season of coldness. A state of darkness and doubt.” It was atime of self-examination and questioning. What he had heard in the preaching and the exhortations were the requirements for becoming truly pious and the demands of faith and of perfection emanating from the Scriptures. He knew that he wanted to follow the Biblical teachings but felt inadequate and unfit. Moody and withdrawn, he told no one of his despair. Instead, he read and reread parts of the Bible, replayed the words he had heard about death, judgment, and eternity, and rehearsed his own interpretations of them. He struggled with the concept of eternal life and with God's gift of salvation. He was troubled by the book of Romans, in which the apostle Paul explains that grace and salvation do not have to be earned and that, in the fulfillment of God's purpose, even those who commit hostile or evil deeds will be brought into harmony with God for eternity. Good works, according to Paul, do not set a man apart. Worse still for Rankin, Paul instructs slaves and masters to accept their roles in life. For years, Rankin was unable even to read Romans—it so challenged his mission to justify his work as an activist with the teachings of God.

Into his teenage years, Rankin studied hard and spent long hours walking through woods and fields, speaking where no one could hear him about his understanding of the Gospel, practicing for a lifetime of oratory. It was then that he committed to memory long passages from the Bible, which would dazzle his audiences in future years. And it was then, at an age when other boys were climbing trees and rigging slingshots, that Rankin made his decision to devote his life to preaching the Gospel and to ridding the world of those things that contradicted the teachings of the Scriptures—such as slavery.

From pulpits in Tennessee, Kentucky, and Ohio, Rankin would one day recite with great excitation the passages from Exodus—“He that stealeth a man and selleth him, or if he be found in his hand, he shall surely be put to death”—and from Deuteronomy—“Thou shalt not deliver unto his master the servant which is escaped from his master unto thee. He shall dwell with thee, even among you, in that place which he shall choose in one of thy gates, where it liketh him best: thou shalt not oppress him.”

“Death! Certain Death is the penalty which the Almighty has attached to the crime of depriving an innocent person of his liberty,” he would tell his audiences. “And this awful penalty was annexed to the crime of enslaving the innocent at a period of the world when the ignorance of the rights of man tended much to mitigate the guilt of slavery. The criminality of slavery continually increases with the progress of knowledge.”


CHAPTER THREE ON THE WINGS OF HIS WORDS


In the hours before dawn on December 16, 1811, the people who lived in the valleys of the Mississippi and Ohio rivers and their tributaries, including the Tennessee and Cumberland rivers, felt a terrible trembling beneath them that no amount of praying could stop. Some were awakened by a sound like a thousand wagons rolling down the side of a mountain. In Knoxville, Tennessee, “There was a rumbling noise like the roaring of distant thunder or a storm rattling like the rolling of a heavy body over the floor of an adjacent room,” one newspaper reported. In Cincinnati, there was a loud noise, first like the clashing together of rocks and then like the roaring of a furnace or the passing of a tornado.

In the long first seconds of the tumult, those who had lived through the Revolution thought it was the sound of soldiers marching onto their land; others were certain it was a band of thieves or Indians coming to take their possessions. Many more waited for the sound of trumpets, believing that the end of the world had finally come. They opened their doors and windows and looked with horror as they saw the agitated earth tossing and pitching, for nearly a minute in some places, then quivering in the aftermath like the body of a freshly killed animal. Hills shook. Rocks moved. Chimneys collapsed. The moaning and shrieking of cows and horses and dogs blended with the human cries that emanated from farmhouse to row house. Animals fell headlong into crevices that suddenly burst open. Buildings waved like leaves in a windstorm, some twisting free of their foundations and some simply falling down. Banks along the Ohio River slid into the water. The Mississippi River briefly reversed its course.

This violent movement of the earth, which would recur for at least three more months, was the largest earthquake in North American recorded history. It was centered at New Madrid, Missouri. Unlike most earthquakes, after which the shocks become less intense and less frequent with time, the New Madrid aftershocks grew in severity and frequency with each new strike. In late December and most of January, hundreds of aftershocks were felt throughout Missouri, Kentucky, Tennessee, Ohio, Illinois, Indiana, and as far east as Washington, D.C., and Boston. In Cincinnati, for the first three weeks after the December quake, there was at least one aftershock every day, and then one every other day, until the next big quake struck, on January 23. One man in Tennessee recorded five hundred aftershocks between January 23 and February 7, when the next one hit—the biggest of all, estimated now at 8.8 on the Richter scale. A year later, two more quakes occurred in the region, though far less severe. Aftershocks with diminishing strengths were reported until the winter of 1815.

“For several hours previous to the shock the most tremendous noise was heard from the neighboring mountains,” wrote a Knoxville man after the February quake. “At intervals it was quiet but would begin with so much violence that each repetition was believed to be the last groan of expiring nature. I believe so many fervent prayers were never put up in this place as were on that fearful night and morning. I think what has been done may be termed a revival in religion.”

Eerie and unnerving, the days and nights of repeated tremors sent people to church to pray for relief, even those who had never before turned to religion to understand their world. In the aftermath of months and then years, during which the earth still trembled now and again, churches were overrun with people who found little satisfaction in the scientific explanations for what they had felt and seen.

John Rankin was living at home, near Dandridge, when the first of the shock waves ripped through the valleys of the Tennessee and Cumberland rivers. “The inhabitants here were aroused by a dreadful sound that gave us all considerable alarm. Some took to prayer,” wrote a man who lived a few miles east of Rankin's home. “The late appearance of a splendid comet and the blood-like color of the sun for several days before this had alarmed a great many people. They talked of war and all that was happening as an awful precursor to war and that the same had occurred before the war by which we gained our independence. The more courageous among us ventured to open our doors to discover what occasioned the noise. A sudden trembling of the earth, fresh terror and alarm from which we had not time to recover before we felt a violent shock which lasted about three minutes and was attended by a hollow rumbling noise, and ended with a dreadful crash leaving behind a strong sulphurous stench.”

The need for ministers was suddenly as strong as it had been during the revivals earlier in the century, and it would increase in the months ahead, as it would throughout Rankin's lifetime, whatever the crisis or issue of the moment might be. For this was a time when churches and religion represented the ganglia of intellectual thought and social influence, making Rankin's calling one of the era's more powerful professions. During those early months of 1812, as the earth shook beneath him and a crisis rumbled through the countryside around him, Rankin kept a tight focus on his goals, studying hard, knowing that soon he would enroll at Washington College in nearby Jonesboro, a step closer to his ordination.

A few months after the last big quake, four of Rankin's brothers—Thomas, Samuel, David, and William—joined the forces to stop British interference with American trade. This was effectively the nation's second war for independence, the War of 1812. In the autumn of that year, as Rankin, who volunteered but was not called to serve, was taking notes at his first college class, his brothers were training for their first major battles.

Although Rankin's Calvinist training fueled a lifetime of hard work, it was likely the death of his brother David that drove him beyond that simple, diligent life his parents had envisioned to a place on higher ground, where he would risk his life for a cause. It happened on March 29, 1814, during Rankin's second year of college—when his money was running out.

David, age twenty-three, was shot in the chest at the Battle of Horseshoe Bend, near the Tallapoosa River in Alabama. He died minutes later. Soon thereafter, Rankin's father told him that the government allowance granted to the family for the death of his brother would pay his college tuition.

Rankin believed in the power of God as the controller of all events, and that God used the free agency of man—such as David's voluntary commitment to the war—to achieve his own purposes. “All events are part of one great plan by which the greatest good will ultimately be accomplished,” he wrote of his brother's death. From that day forward, Rankin never doubted that he was meant to devote his life to something far larger than himself—something worthy of his brother's sacrifice.

During the next year, Rankin boarded at the home of the daughter and son-in-law of Samuel Doak, Washington College's founder and president and one of the framers of the Constitution for the state of Franklin, the abortive effort of East Tennessee to gain admission to the Union separately from the rest of Tennessee. Born in Augusta County, Virginia, Doak was a 1775 graduate of the College of New Jersey—later known as Princeton College—and in 1778 became the first minister to settle in the territory that became the state of Tennessee. After three years, he built a log schoolhouse that was the first educational institution in the region of the Mississippi Valley. He modeled his new school on his alma mater, and in his teachings he strongly encouraged students to think for themselves and to rely on their own investigations of the world to form their thoughts and opinions. As pastor of the Salem Presbyterian Church in Jonesboro, he was a member of the Abingdon Presbytery, a network of churches in East Tennessee and in nearby southwestern Virginia whose congregations were largely slaveholders. Doak too owned slaves, though he favored emancipation and taught his students that slavery was indeed evil. He and his fellow ministers did not believe there was a practical solution for ending the peculiar institution that had shaped and now seemed to hold together their world. By contrast, East Tennessee's Union Presbytery, which included the church of Rankin's youth, employed a coterie of antislavery ministers and had few slaveholders in its congregations. During the year that Rankin lived with Doak's son-in-law, the Union Presbytery entered a fierce theological battle with the Abingdon Presbytery regarding the teachings of Dr. Samuel Hopkins, who challenged certain teachings of John Calvin. In the mud-slinging that ensued, the Abingdon group called its Union brethren “Hopkinsites.” And in response, for their unbending slaveholding adversaries, the Union pastors called their slaveholding coreligionists “Copper-heads,” after the venomous snake. It was an epithet that would endure throughout the antebellum years as a term for proslavers. Doak was dubbed “Father of the Copperheads.” His son-in-law, Adam Lowry, was, however, an outspoken abolitionist who would not keep a slave. His wife supported his views, and they raised their five daughters and two sons in the belief that slavery must be abolished. Eventually, three of those daughters would marry three of Richard and Jane Rankin's sons—including John. And Lowry, the owner of a sawmill, a gristmill, a woolen mill, and a distillery, would one day persuade Doak to free his slaves.

The indemnity from David Rankin's death was nearly gone by the late autumn of 1815, and Rankin's parents struggled to sell enough corn and to shoe enough horses to carry their son through the last several months of college. They were doubtful that he could finish, and then Rankin surprised them—and everyone else. At Christmas that year, he announced to friends and family that he would marry Jean Lowry on January 2, 1816. In an unusual tone of excitement, he also told them that he would make his own wedding shoes while she was making his wedding coat. “My marriage was a matter of duty and interest as well as affection,” he later wrote. “It was a matter of surprise to my friends and acquaintances because I was unaccustomed to associating with young ladies. It did not in the least interfere with my progress in college. Some perhaps thought it unwise in me to marry before I had studied my profession; but time fully justified my wisdom. It enabled me to study, and helped sustain me in the practice of it when completed. A more affectionate and industrious wife could not be found in any place.”

Supported now by his wife and her family, Rankin was able to relieve his parents of the burden of his tuition and finish his college education. At the same time, he engaged in a private tutorial, for eighteen months, with his grandfather-in-law, Samuel Doak, whose teachings of fortitude and the independent spirit would have a permanent impact on Rankin. Adam Lowry bought the couple a small house nearby and furnished it. In the autumn of 1816, the first of John and Jean's thirteen children was born, Adam Lowry Rankin. And by spring, John Rankin was a licensed Presbyterian minister. Although ordination opened a career path for John Rankin, his views on perfecting life on earth, which included ending slavery, would throw many obstacles in his path.

From his student days through his ordination, the steadfast, driven Reverend Rankin inspired only skepticism among the churchmen of the Abingdon Presbytery. They qualified his entry into their virtuous realm by writing in his file that he was accepted “with suspicion and distrust because of his frequent expression of opposition to slavery.” To be sure, by then he had been working for nearly two years with the Quaker minister Charles Osborne to expand the membership of their newly formed Manumission Society of Tennessee and to spawn antislavery societies in counties throughout East Tennessee—activities that must have tortured the Abingdon “Copperheads,” whose allegiance to Doak stopped them from taking action against Rankin.

Rankin spent the early months of his new life as a minister practicing the fine art of oratory, this time not in the woods but, rather, with a real audience. He rotated from church to church, filling vacant pulpits, including the one from his boyhood years in Dandridge, and learning what it takes to preach two and three times a day, often to the same audience. His endless hours of studying the Scripture, from the time he was seven years old, benefited him now. Still, it was a very challenging time for someone as diffident in the pulpit as Rankin: Despite his occasional boldness in face-to-face encounters, he was tormented by his own perception of ineptitude before the public. At times he was so nervous in front of an audience that all moisture in his mouth would dry up, his tongue would stick to the roof of it, and his speech would sound garbled. He needed practice, and more practice. At first he tried the technique of memorizing every word of his sermons, which gave him some confidence, but as he quickly learned, this left little room for expressions of passion, and that in turn seemed to result in an outbreak of heavy eyelids in the congregations. In those early sermons, he never dared to mention the word “slavery,” or even to mention the concept of oppression.

It would take him several years to perfect a style of extemporaneous speaking and to leave behind the lonely chill he seemed to carry with him to the pulpit. But it would be only a matter of weeks before he uttered the word “slavery” from the pulpit.

One summer day in 1817, at a church in the Abingdon group, he explained to his audience, with fierce certitude, that the mission of Christianity was to drive oppression from the earth, and that the Bible was opposed to “all forms of oppression.” In the days that followed, he was told by the elders that his words were “incendiary.” The slaveholders in the congregation feared that slaves might eventually hear such words and then be dangerously aroused. Rankin was told never to preach on the subject of oppression again. A few weeks later, Rankin was invited to speak at a church in the Union Presbytery where he knew there were very few slaveholders, and where antislavery sentiment was on the rise. That day, perhaps for the first time, Rankin, who in the spirit of a true activist had been inspired by the Abingdon rejection, felt the potential power in damning slavery from the pulpit. His piercing eyes looking out from lowered brows across the aisles and pews of the congregation, his broad forehead beaded with sweat, Rankin abandoned his orderly lecture and spoke spontaneously against the evils of oppression. He even used the word “slavery.” To raise the curtain on the issue, to drop all pretense, all euphemisms, all subterfuge, to utter the word that would be his divining rod for many years to come, must have been a glorious release. Like an actor whose audience blurs before him as he immerses himself in the essence of his role, Rankin was unaware of the impact of his words, and possibly never doubted for a moment that the congregation was swept into the passion of his beliefs. He was flying on the wings of his own words. But no one else was. Expecting accolades, Rankin was stunned when, afterward, the church elders told him that he should consider leaving the state of Tennessee if he planned to preach against slavery ever again. Even though members of the church agreed with him that the Bible was opposed to slavery, to say it publicly was a radical move, he was told. These things were discussed only in parlors and offices, never from the pulpit. There were roughly sixty thousand slaves in Tennessee by then—up from the thirty-five hundred the year of Rankin's birth—and the white population, those who owned slaves and those who did not condone such ownership, feared that preaching against oppression and crusading for liberty could incite a revolt and thus endanger their lives.

It was clear now that if Rankin were to stay in Tennessee he would have to leave the ministry or suppress his antislavery convictions, which for him would be tantamount to abandoning his Christian faith. He was unwilling to compromise his beliefs. Time and again, his visions of equality would far exceed the understanding of those far more powerful than he, including the leadership of his church. His vision of a world without slavery would eventually force him, in a painful turn, to confront the doctrines of his church and even to endorse violence to end the evil. His path would forever be strewn with obstacles, but his objectives seemed as carefully laid out as the lessons of Scripture.

Within days of the Union Presbytery sermon, Rankin announced to friends and family that he and his wife had decided to move to the free state of Ohio. Through his mother's family back in Virginia, he had heard about a town called Ripley, where some antislavery Virginians had resettled. But his friends urged him not to go. The trip, across mountains and rivers, would be hard, especially for a woman and a baby. Ohio was still a wild, unsettled land, they warned. His father offered him a portion of his thousand acres and begged him to stay. But he had observed his son for twenty-four years, and he, of all people, knew that his son would not yield to the temptations of comfort and security.

Adam Lowry gave the young Rankins a horse, a two-wheeled carriage, and $70. A friend gave them $5 and an umbrella for their roofless carriage. And Rankin's father and mother gave them clothing and quilts, too much for their small carriage to hold. On the morning of their departure, his father did not come to breakfast and could not be found until the moment Rankin was set to leave. With the carriage packed and all the farewells spoken, Rankin, never looking back, steered the horse down the path he had so often walked as a boy. Seconds later, Richard Rankin mounted his horse and appeared alongside the carriage. For miles the father trotted his horse next to the son's carriage, looking straight ahead without saying a word. In a world where distances were long and lives were short, both father and son knew what their farewell meant. “The feelings of that parting moment I never can describe,” John Rankin wrote later. “I felt we were to meet no more on this earth.”

In the coming years, when escaping slaves sat by Rankin's hearth, he would know something of their pain in leaving their homes and families. He would also know how rugged the physical journey north to a free state could be, though his own was made without baying hounds and angry slaveholders trailing close behind.

It took the Rankins fifteen days to travel from Dandridge, Tennessee, to Lexington, Kentucky—a distance of two hundred miles. The uneven terrain often forced them to walk, with Rankin leading the horse, and his wife carrying their young boy. So precipitous was their path at some points that Rankin had to lash the wheels of the carriage to prevent the vehicle from overwhelming the horse. Once, the carriage tumbled down an abrupt two-foot drop, and the axle broke. With a steep mountain road behind them, Rankin chose to ride ahead in search of a blacksmith, carrying the broken axle and riding bareback for fifteen miles. Jean and the baby waited on the side of the road in the dark until the early hours of the morning, when Rankin finally returned.

In Lexington, they stopped for a few days while Rankin replenished his purse by giving three sermons, one on a Saturday evening and two on Sunday. Then, $20 richer, they headed for Ohio, moving along the winding roads from Lexington to Paris, Kentucky, where again he preached to pick up much-needed cash. In Paris, a Presbyterian minister informed him of a vacant pulpit at the Concord Presbyterian Church near Carlisle, Kentucky, some sixteen miles north of Paris and thirty-five miles from the Ohio River. This was on his way to Ohio, so Rankin agreed to deliver a few sermons. But when the Rankins arrived in Carlisle, their horse collapsed from exhaustion. The church was more than willing to employ him during the month the horse needed to heal. By the end of that month, the elders had invited him to be their permanent pastor. By then it was winter, and Rankin, impressed that there was only one slaveholder in the congregation, accepted the post, but only until the spring.

For decades, the Concord church had been a stronghold of antislavery sentiment in Kentucky, a slave state where the crusade to end slavery had emanated from the Presbyterian, Baptist, and Methodist churches, some of which boldly denied membership to slaveholders. As early as 1807, members of the Concord congregation and those of twelve other churches established the Kentucky Abolition Society—one of the first antislavery societies in the nation. Its constitution, written in 1808, called for an end to slavery, for antislavery sermons and speeches, for the education of black children in the state of Kentucky, and for “justice in favor of such negroes and mulatoes as are held in bondage.” Rankin arrived at a moment in Kentucky's history when antislavery sentiment was rising to a peak it would never again reach. Not only was he allowed to expound on the evils of slavery from the pulpit as loudly and ardently as he wished, but he was encouraged by his antislavery colleagues to do just that. He was able to practice his antislavery oratory almost weekly, through either the church or the abolition society. And he found people and places to help him work around the law that prohibited teaching slaves to read. In the spring, the elders again asked him to stay, which he did.

During his four years in Kentucky, Rankin followed his instincts as a budding activist, finding every opportunity to write and speak against the inhumanity and sin of slavery, to challenge the laws and attitudes of a slave state, and to confront slaveholders, individually and in groups, with the immorality of their ways. In his early days in Kentucky, Rankin believed that he and other antislavery crusaders could actually persuade slaveholders to free their slaves. A year or more into the challenge, he began to believe that slaveholders needed the incentive of compensation from the federal government in exchange for freeing their “property.” Whatever the remedy, the longer Rankin was in Kentucky, the closer he appeared to move to what would one day, in the 1830s, be called “immediate emancipation.” He wrote later that he and his colleagues in the Kentucky Abolition Society promoted the concept that, “if the slave has a right to freedom at all, he has it now.”
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